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In early 2019, I was poring over the transcript of a 1938 hearing in the New South Wales Supreme Court when a name jumped out. Kenneth McCaffery was the eight-year-old son of a tram conductor from Cowper Street, Waverley. Understandably overwhelmed by the bewigged counsel and judge, he had quickly dissolved in tears and been excused. But what little he imparted contained the last glimpse of a figure whose accidental death had precipitated one of the most complexly divisive and historically significant cases to work its way through Australia’s High Court.

Today we take for granted that trauma is real and that mental suffering can be as injurious as physical suffering. Eighty years ago, attitudes were different, overlain by codes of restraint and stoicism. The townscapes of Australia were festooned with evidence of national loss – the memorials testifying to the ravages of war, of male casualty and female bereavement. But these were for commemoration and contemplation. In the day-to-day, one got on, one coped. The law was especially sceptical. It wanted injuries with satisfyingly visible wounds and lesions before it would consider compensation. Until one day, a judge, in an act of legal daring that infuriated colleagues, stopped to ask: what could be more real than a mother’s loss of a child?

So, McCaffery, McCaffery… had there not been a rugby league player of that name? Why, yes, there had – a centre for Easts and Norths who had played a dozen Kangaroos games. Could this McCaffery in the witness stand, I wondered, be that McCaffery of the football field? The footballer, I learned, had become a publican, raised ten children with his wife, and would now be in his ninetieth year. But so far as anyone knew, he was still alive, last heard of in coastal retirement. I made some calls among sporting contacts, obtained a telephone number and, with a deep breath, dialled it.

The phone rang twice; the connection was surprisingly quick; the voice, elderly but still firm, identified its owner as ‘Ken McCaffery’. When I gave my name, he companionably addressed me as ‘mate’.

‘Mr McCaffery, this may sound like a strange question,’ I began tentatively. ‘But do you remember a boy called Max Chester?’

There was a pause. I briefly thought we had been disconnected. Then the voice returned, quiet and sombre. ‘Mate,’ said Ken McCaffery. ‘I’m going to start crying now…’
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‘A boy called Max Chester’: second from left, back row.








Introduction


‘This was no country for us. She saw nothing but sorrow ahead. We should lose everything we possessed; our customs, our traditions; we should be swallowed up in this strange foreign land.’

Judah Waten, Alien Son



Saturday 14 August 1937 dawned cool but bright in Sydney. It came as a relief. Thursday had been drenched with rain, metropolitan areas recording average falls of 25 millimetres. Friday had then been swirled in heavy fog, causing cars and trams to collide on slippery roads and ferries to honk warily. With the weekend, bathers were drawn back to Bondi’s famous beaches, where some men entering the surf surreptitiously lowered their trunks to the waist in defiance of local ordinances. The ‘playground of the Pacific’ expected play within certain standards. The beach patrol had recently booked a young communist activist not for the subversiveness of his handbills but for the misdemeanour of wearing only khaki shorts.

Nor did everyone experience the lure of the sea. Tucked off Bronte Road in Waverley, Allens Parade seemed to epitomise suburban tidiness: apartment blocks, bungalows, a smattering of Moreton Bay figs, a solitary telephone box. And on the ground floor of number 7, Dargo Flats, into which they had moved a fortnight earlier, Chaim and Golda Chester were shy of the sand, the water, the kitsch of the beachfront, the frivolity of the Pavilion – they had barely come to terms with their adopted surname. To themselves, they remained the Sochaczewskis, part of a Polish family who had chain-migrated to Australia over the preceding decade.

The Sochaczewskis went back generations in Lowicz, a market town near Lodz in the former Pale of Settlement. Then, in 1927, after a family conference had agreed that Poland was no longer a hospitable home for Jews, they visited the British legation in Warsaw. Australia, it was agreed, was a promising destination – partly for being far away, partly because nobody knew anything about it. Chaim’s older brother Menachem Mendel, a former Polish army private, had been first to make the journey; in Sydney he had adopted the name Max Chester by opening the telephone book at random. He applied to naturalise and married another Jewish migrant, Pesa Hillman: their firstborn, Esther Lena, signified the family’s commitment to a fresh start.

Gradually, Max’s parents Nussen and Perel, and siblings Yehavat, Esther Miriam, Razel and Moshe had followed the same route, all anglicising their names also. At last, Chaim had arrived in Australia aboard the Otranto in October 1935, joining Max in the family trade of jewellery and watchmaking in Sydney’s Pitt Street; Golda had shipped on the Ormonde fourteen months later, with the three children who haloed her in the family passport photograph. In Lowicz, they had been Moishe Dov, Razel and Menachem Mendel. In Waverley they became, respectively, fifteen-year-old Benny, twelve-year-old Rosie and seven-year-old Maxie.

Bondi’s patriotic identification with lifesavers and surfers coexisted with neighbouring Waverley’s status as a residential enclave for some of Sydney’s 10,000 Jews. Waverley itself was named for the mansion erected a century earlier by the Jewish theatre impresario Barnett Levey, first in Australia to stage Shakespeare. Consecration of the Eastern Suburbs Central Synagogue at Bondi Junction in March 1923 had been followed by the establishment of a Hebrew school and the Mizrachi congregation, their doings dutifully reported in Sydney’s Hebrew Standard. Yet green-eyed Golda, a five-foot, forty-nine-year-old wisp of a woman, struggled to settle. In their hometown of Piotrkow Kujawski, population about 1000, her family the Gradowskis had been of account; they had held public offices, owned businesses, even the shtetl’s local bus. Here the buses, cars, trams and ferries whizzed through a city populated by nearly 1.4 million. It was so big, so hot, so loud. Her children took readily to Australia, their local schools and haunts: Benny and Rosie were healthily boisterous, Maxie quieter but academically bright. Chaim was comfortably grooved in his jewellery work, reinforced by siblings. But for a quiet, respectable, pious woman who kept kosher and the customs of ritual bathing, these were harsh shores.

Not every Jewish arrival remained, in fact. A year earlier, Pesa’s sister Ethel had soured on Sydney and returned to Poland. Golda had not that option – her place was with her husband. So the marriage of the Sochaczewskis was becoming the coexistence of the Chesters, like that of the parents Judah Waten would describe in Alien Son, Chaim developing a kinship for ‘this new earth’, Golda able to live only with ‘her bags packed’. A reflection of her adaptive struggle is that, on that Saturday morning, she, so personally observant, felt unable to extend the Torah’s Shabbat restrictions to her children, to insist on ‘solemn rest, holy to the LORD’ until evening. While Chaim visited Max and Pesa in Woollahra, out the children went to play in streets still slick from the rains of preceding days. Seldom venturing out herself, Golda was unaware of activity round the corner, about fifty metres from Dargo Flats’ front door. As she would tell a court in her limited English: ‘I did not know that hole.’

‘Hole’ is an understatement: it was a trench, twelve metres by half a metre, diagonally across Hollywood Avenue where it met Allens Parade. Gangers from Waverley Council had spent the preceding week excavating it for a Postmaster-General’s telephone conduit, at depths as great as two metres. In a neighbourhood that changed little, it had attracted the curiosity of children, whom the workers had at times had to shoo away. But since filling with rainwater on Thursday, it had lain abandoned, and also exposed, a ragged perimeter marked by a few planks rested variously on a heap of stone, a pile of sand, a 200-litre drum and an upturned wheelbarrow. Lights had been positioned to warn of the traffic hazard, but no more. That morning, ignoring the barrier, children began challenging one another to leap from one side of the brimming trench to the other. It was a thrilling game. You had to be brave. The gap of turbid water was challenging. The sand on each side was loose.

Around noon, mothers began calling children in for lunch, preparatory to the custom of Saturday afternoon: the 2 pm matinee at Hoyts’ Star Theatre on Bronte Road. The cinema was the area’s biggest and best-loved. It was also only three minutes’ walk from Dargo Flats, and that day’s B-movie double bill looked enticing: ninepence got you Don Ameche in Fifty Roads to Town, Jocelyn Howarth in China Passage, a newsreel and a serial. It was so enticing that headstrong Benny and Rosie resented the burden of Maxie. As they returned to the weekend, the two older children shrugged their younger sibling off: he would have to play on his own.
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‘Children play at the spot’: Labor Daily, 16 August 1937, front page.



As Benny and Rosie joined the convergence on the Star, Kenneth McCaffery was walking between his friend Jimmy and his mother Dorothy. Turning the corner, he glanced back towards the trench where children had been jumping earlier, although he had not – he did not trust the sand. He saw and heard a distant splash, and tugged his mother’s hand. There seemed to be someone in the water. Dorothy hushed him, pointing in the direction of the cinema. By the time the audience emerged, adult searchers were combing the neighbourhood, knocking at doors, accosting passers-by. Had anyone seen a little boy called Maxie?



It was Chaim who first expressed concern, on coming home at about 3 pm and expecting to see Maxie in the street. Golda said that he had gone out to play an hour earlier, but agreed this was unusual. Their first thought was that the boy had wandered, that a search was called for; concern deepened when Benny and Rosie returned from the Star admitting, shame-faced, that they had no idea of Maxie’s whereabouts. There was no telephone at Dargo Flats: Chaim used the phonebox at the corner of Botany Street to rally nearby relatives. Chaim’s brother Max arrived with his friend Harry Weiner: a big man, practical, a cabinetmaker, a communist. Max’s wife, Pesa, brought four-year-old Esther. Others volunteered to join the search. There were a number of Jewish families in Allens Parade: the Klinebergs, the Mishkels, the Segals, the Lashes, even the cantor of the Eastern Suburbs Central Synagogue. Few happenings so galvanise a community as a lost child. But round the growing crowd word spread, apparently as simple as someone overhearing Kenneth McCaffery’s quiet reminder to his mother that he had earlier seen someone ‘in the water’. Weiner took up a long stick. He put it all the way into the trench. He still did not strike the bottom.

Weiner was busily probing the water when, around 6 pm, police arrived. Albert Schmitzer was a respected local constable. He had been stationed at Waverley for three years after a decade in the southern highlands. While in the country, he had had to comb the Yass River for the body of an eight-year-old who had drowned in front of his crippled grandfather. For these grim tasks, police used long poles. Schmitzer produced two, giving one to Weiner, and they commenced feeling along the trench’s long bottom. As the dark descended, so did a solemn quiet over the onlookers. Some, like Pesa Chester, took their children away. The remaining crowd numbered about fifty.

At around 6.30 pm, Schmitzer’s pole touched something. Weiner lent a hand, and the water surrendered the limp and muddied body of a little boy. Through the crowd’s gasps cut Golda’s jagged wail. According to eyewitnesses, her screams continued a full five minutes, flushing other residents from their homes. ‘Maxie! Maxie!’ Golda kept repeating. ‘Oh, he can’t dead!’

Maybe he wasn’t. As Schmitzer and Weiner lowered Maxie to the side of the trench, some thought that they saw him twitch – as Chaim would say in court: ‘I thought he might still have life in him.’ From the crowd stepped no fewer than three local surf lifesavers, all from different clubs – a subtle marker of sectarian divides. Offering their skills were John Lees from North Bondi, Albert Greig from Bondi, and Albert Olander from North Narrabeen. They commenced resuscitation measures in the bedroom of a nearby cottage. In the day’s fashion, this involved rubbing the patient’s back, legs and sides with flat palms, pressuring the lower ribcage and slapping the hands and feet. In the background, the trio could hear Golda’s continued screams. But after twenty minutes, when they handed over to officers from the Eastern Suburbs Ambulance Service, it was apparent that their efforts had been unavailing. As the ambulance departed for St Vincent’s Hospital, Golda could be seen weeping and rending her clothing: Schmitzer had a local general practitioner, Dr William Kay, administer a sedative.

A seven-year-old boy had died on a clear day in the quiet suburb of a peaceful nation while his father had been out, his mother at home, his siblings at the movies. If most were unaware of the full details – that it had occurred on the Shabbat, and only a minute from his front door – they were still shocked by the event’s everydayness. Through Sunday, pilgrims filed past the trench, expressing amazement that something so awful could occur in such commonplace surrounds, and that works so extensive could be so poorly guarded. Reporters garnered sentiments: Labor Daily would describe local residents as ‘incensed’ by the ‘miniature river’ in their midst. Photographers took pictures: in its rectangular regularity, the trench eerily resembled an outsized grave.

The Chesters were not there. Judaism required Maxie’s interment as soon as possible: to help, the family enlisted Sydney’s Chevra Kadisha, the holy association for the handling of the dead and dying, and Rabbi Gedaliah Kirsner, former leader of the Eastern Suburbs Central Synagogue. No account survives of his funeral, but once the tiny coffin was laid to rest in the Jewish section of Rookwood cemetery, the Chesters retreated to Dargo Flats to commence sitting shiva, the first seven days of their religion’s bereavement cycle, when the immediate family remains at home to receive visiting mourners. One was not an actual mourner. But he was most determined that Maxie should be remembered.



The Chesters knew of Abram Landa. Everyone in Waverley knew of Abram Landa. Still only thirty-five, he had been a local member and would be again. His story was one with which the Chesters could identify.

Landa’s father, David, also hailed from the Pale, born in Zgierz, less than 50 kilometres from Lowicz. A perky, optimistic man, David had emigrated to the north of England and cycled through jobs as a shopkeeper, greengrocer, jeweller and commercial traveller, also outliving two wives. It was after the death of his second that he quit Liverpool for Belfast, where he boarded in a house in Regent Street owned by thirty-five-year-old Annie Lewis, widowed mother of two daughters and a son, stepmother of two boys. Annie was herself from Russia and spoke only Yiddish, but was resilient and practical. Widow and widower married within six months. On 10 November 1902, Abram became their firstborn. He inherited his father’s vitality, his mother’s drive.
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Local Hero: Abram Landa.



David sold hardware while Annie bore four further children, one of whom died in infancy; a son from Annie’s first marriage also died, aged thirteen, on Christmas Day 1909. Their upbringing was poor but secure. ‘It [Belfast] was not bad for Jews because they [Catholics and Protestants] were too busy with each other,’ Landa recalled. He carried away abiding memories of life in the family’s second boarding house, in Dock Street: through an upstairs window overlooking the yards of Harland & Wolff, he watched the Titanic rise gigantically.

A month after the Titanic sank on its maiden voyage, the Landas were themselves holed beneath the waterline by David’s death. Unable to face life in Belfast without him, Annie took ten-year-old Abe to the offices of the shipping line Shaw, Savill & Albion to book passages for herself, Florrie (twenty) and Libby (eighteen) from her first marriage, and Abe, Morris (eight), Bessie (six) and Isabel (two) from her second. The destination? She offered the only useful English word in her vocabulary: ‘Far.’ On 27 February 1913, the Landas boarded the Ionic bound for New Zealand.

In Auckland, the family spent a miserable year. Abe continued his education at Grey Lynn School, but Annie was unable to find work. She grew increasingly obsessed with Sydney, at which the Ionic had called en route, on a perfect autumn day with the harbour at its most picturesque. In desperation, she spent the family’s last savings on third-class passages aboard the Maheno, arriving in Sydney in July 1914, a fortnight ahead of the outbreak of World War I. There would be no more moving; there couldn’t be. Everyone would have to work, Abe included. He helped Annie run boarding houses, first in Little West Street, Darlinghurst, then in Cambridge Street, Rushcutters Bay, sometimes rising as early as 2 am to shop at Paddy’s Market. He supplemented their meagre income by selling newspapers at Central Railway Station, peanuts at the Sydney Stadium, and miniature flags to relatives meeting troopships at Woolloomooloo. Anything would do.

But young Abe was also bright. His wide reading nurtured an interest in politics. Sympathetic to the campaign against conscription, he joined the Paddington Labor League, where as a sixteen-year-old he had his first taste of a soapbox. Neither a joker nor a raconteur, he was never to be an outstanding speaker, but he was a precociously clear thinker, and impressed a fellow member, a working-class estate agent who had been taught by the Reverend P. A. Conlon at the Christian Brothers’ College, Waverley. At this benefactor’s instigation, Conlon offered Landa a place free of tuition fees, enabling him to matriculate aged eighteen. When the same benefactor then urged him to pursue law, Landa duly obtained a bursary to study at Sydney University. The rest was history, to which we shall turn later. But by August 1937, Landa was Sydney’s leading solicitor in the realm of compensable injury – what we would now think of as a plaintiff lawyer.

Waverley was Landa’s native patch. He and his wife, Perla, lived in Woollahra, just the other side of Bondi Junction; he had recently acted for a jumps jockey in Allens Parade seeking compensation from his trainer for injuries in a fall; and he had been moved by the Chesters’ misfortune, appalled by the council’s carelessness, and also by the law’s iniquity. For against the municipality, Landa well knew, the family had no obvious cause of action.



Nowadays it is common to joke about pernickety safety regulations, and overindulgent compensation regimes. A step back in time provides a salutary reminder of the needs they answer. Those bygone days of innocence when everyone knew their neighbours and children roamed freely were proportionally more dangerous. In the year of Maxie’s death, earthworks caused a number of child drownings in New South Wales – a stormwater channel in Stanmore, a posthole in Trundle, an excavation in Artarmon, a canal in Cabramatta, disused brick pits filled with rainwater in Matraville and Granville. In response to a double drowning in another old quarry the following year, Pix magazine ran a photographic spread (‘Death-Pits Menace Children’s Lives’) including Maxie Chester in the roll of casualties. But no incentive existed to change, thanks in part to the state’s Compensation to Relatives Act (1897).

This act, which Landa knew chapter and verse, was based on a long-established English statute, the Fatal Accidents Act (1846). One of the act’s peculiarities was to make it cheaper to kill a child than to injure an adult, because of the difficulty in the former instance of asserting pecuniary loss. It was unclear what Landa could promise the Chesters when first he visited them at Dargo Flats, and no account survives of the encounter: all we know is that it concluded with Landa agreeing to represent the family at the inquest into Maxie’s death.

What was the council’s attitude? Two days after the funeral, Council met in their handsome chambers in the north-west corner of Waverley Park, which they had recently voted to spend £2000 improving. It featured a splendid new portrait of King George VI, although no women’s restroom – the twelve aldermen included no alderwomen in any case. When the meeting opening at 8.11 pm before a small audience of ratepayers, Mayor James Fieldhouse, a successful local builder, referred to the passing, aged sixty-three, of a former alderman, Griffith Ellis Williams, whose funeral had been held a week earlier. It was moved and seconded to send his widow a note of condolence, the motion being ‘carried in silence’ with ‘the Aldermen and members of the public standing meanwhile’. The next item was dealt with identically.


OBITUARY – LATE MAX CHESTER

The Mayor referred to the tragic death of Max Chester, a boy of seven (7) years of age, by being drowned in the waters in a trench at the corner of Hollywood Avenue and Allens Parade, on the 14th August, 1937, and it was –

MOVED AND SECONDED –

THAT a letter of sympathy, under the Seal of the Council he forwarded to the parents of the late Max Chester, expressing the Council’s sympathy with them in their recent sad bereavement.

The motion was carried in silence, the Aldermen and members of the public standing meanwhile.



The ‘waters in a trench’ were made to sound as natural as a river; the Chester’s ‘sad bereavement’ was afforded an exact likeness to that of the widow of an elderly man. There was no discussion of the accident: excavation on the site continued without chief engineer Phillip Norman and gang leader John Harper making a single change to work practices. Another boy fell into the trench that same week: fortunately, rescuers came quickly to his aid.
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‘Their recent sad bereavement’: deliberations of Waverley Council, 17 August 1937.



The inquest on 25 August, held at the Coroner’s Court of New South Wales in the Rocks, unfolded accordingly. Coroner Ernest Oram declined to extend his finding beyond the cause of death, accidental asphyxia by drowning. After hearing evidence from Harper, Chaim Chester and Albert Schmitzer, Oram would not be drawn on the subject of the council’s protections: it was ‘difficult to safeguard children, no matter what precautions were taken’; nothing short of a ‘paling fence’ would suffice, which was, of course, impractical. Landa expressed outrage. He upbraided Waverley for its carelessness: ‘The council concerned has been scandalous in its neglect in putting proper barricades round this place. It is time that State regulations were made for the protection of children.’ The council had even left the family burdened by their funeral expenses of twelve pounds, ten shillings. Above all, Landa lamented the Act’s indifference towards the ‘pain and suffering’ of bereaved parents. And the degree of that pain and suffering was worseningly clear.



In their patchy English, the Chesters would later struggle to express how their son’s death affected them, but the gaps in their descriptions are not difficult to fill. A child predeceasing a parent disturbs all semblance of natural order: it is the suffering of children that disturbs Ivan Karamazov’s sense of a benign providence, with its evidence of the world’s indifferent cruelty. It would have struck Golda, then, at the root of her faith: was it even punishment for staining the Shabbat with earthly distractions? Then there were the doubts she quietly harboured about her new land, and perhaps about both her other children, who had excused themselves from looking after their brother, and her husband, away when she had needed him most. This crowding of sensations did not abate. She could not stay in: everything of Max’s remained around her. She could not go out: death lurked just round the corner. She could bear neither noise nor silence. She refused food, shunned rest. She began to look haggard, almost translucent.

Three weeks after Max’s death, Chaim took Golda to a surgery in Old South Head Road. Dr Abe Reading, older brother of the physician and community leader Fanny, was a local institution. He was, as he would later testify, immediately concerned: ‘She was in a very highly nervous state. She wept copiously on any reference to the tragedy. She complained a good deal of headaches and sleeplessness.’ It was the first of a series of regular consultations over the course of the next year, in which Reading was unable to alleviate Golda’s distress. He prescribed bromides and sodium luminal: they were ineffective. He suggested the family move from the area: they lacked the resources. Every time Reading saw her, Golda would revert to the events of 14 August 1937, and to Max: her favourite, her beloved, her ‘brilliant boy’. This offered a context to Landa’s continued involvement with the Chesters. If nothing could make good their loss, the possibility of its recognition offered a glimmer of solace. Family lore is that Landa made one other suggestion: that Golda be known for legal purposes as Janet. If not a bastion of explicit anti-Semitism, Australia had lurking aversions best not aroused.

The terms of the first writ Landa lodged in the Supreme Court on 13 November 1937 convey little of the course the litigation would follow – indeed, to a layperson, they are almost unintelligible.


Janet Chester, the mother of Max Chester deceased (of whose estate there is no executor or administrator), by Abram Landa her attorney sue the Council of the Municipality of Waverley for that at all material times the defendant was engaged in and about certain excavation work at and near to a public highway and thereupon the defendant by its servants and agents so carelessly negligently and unskilfully conducted itself in and about the said excavation work and in and about the failure to safely and properly control and barricade an open drain thereat and in and about the failure to provide adequate and proper warnings and protection that the said open drain became and was dangerous and unsafe to persons lawfully passing at, by and near thereto in consequence whereof and whilst he was lawfully passing at by and near thereto in consequence whereof and whilst he was lawfully at by and near to the said excavation work and the said open drain the said Max Chester fell into the said open drain and was drowned within 12 months before action and thereby the plaintiff and the persons from whom and on whose behalf she sues lost the benefit of the society, services and support of the said Max Chester and incurred funeral expenses and the plaintiff claims one thousand pounds.
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‘Janet Chester’: Golda’s new guise.





Perhaps the writ’s only portent is Golda’s signature as Janet Chester – a study for any graphologist. Other sample signatures of hers show a relatively sure hand. This autograph starts with a fluent ‘J’, proceeds to a hesitant ‘a’, then grows increasingly excruciated, sliding exhaustedly off the dotted line, with two smudged corrections imposed. On the world Janet Chester would make few marks. These are full of pain, as though she can hardly bring herself to make them – and, in the case of Chester v the Council of the Municipality of Waverley, that would become the point. But that point would need making by Australia’s most brilliant legal mind.






1 ‘How I yearn for them and can’t forget!’


A recent documentary about Doc Evatt introduced him as a ‘little-known Australian’. It may even be true. His world seems remote. He does not fit easily into a national pantheon that exalts bravery in war, popularity in culture, electoral success in politics. He was an indifferent orator, an abrasive colleague, even a careless dresser. His papers are fragmentary. He bequeathed no memoirs, and his other works are now but little read. A suburb bears his name in Canberra and a reserve in Sydney, but he is honoured by no monument. His remaining admirers, who usually accent his achievements at the United Nations, are ardent rather than widespread; the same is true of his detractors, who execrate him as vainglorious, paranoid and malign for his part in the Petrov Affair and Labor’s subsequent fissuring. He is routinely called ‘brilliant’ and also ‘mad’ with little elaboration, conscripting the well-worn cliché about the close relation of genius and insanity. The standard neutral descriptor is ‘flawed’, even if it is far from clear how this distinguishes him from anybody else.

In 1930s Australia, however, Herbert Vere Evatt was a one-man intellectual powerhouse. He was a student prodigy who had become a successful advocate who had become the youngest addition to the Bench of Australia’s High Court. He also dabbled in politics as a local member, in literature as a popular historian and in art as an effusive patron. A protean figure, then, with a legal reputation beyond his country’s shores, despite a culture that struggled to rise above the derived and parochial. A Bradman of law and letters? Evatt would have revelled in such an epithet, for his love of cricket was profound, his knowledge encyclopedic. He had also – something understood by those who knew him well – a bottomless hunger for praise and laurels.

Sometimes the roots of such traits are obscure. Not in Evatt’s case. They were planted by his Irish-Australian mother, Jeanie nee Gray, who married John Ashmore Evatt in 1882. John became licensee of a modest hotel in rural Maitland. Jeanie helped, but eschewed the bar. She read books. She loved music. She sang in a church choir. She was genteel but aspirational. Herbert Vere, born 30 April 1894, was the fifth of eight sons. The family was further shaped by the loss of two middle boys in local outbreaks of typhoid and John Ashmore’s death of rheumatic fever in October 1901, leaving Jeanie a widow with effectively two camps of children, George (eighteen) and John (thirteen) forming one, and Bert (seven), Ray (five), Frank (three) and Clive (one) the other. On Bert would Jeanie have the greatest influence. When he exhibited signs of precocity, she put literature in his path, indulged his propensity for ceaseless questions, took fierce pride in his academic progress – a teacher at East Maitland Superior Public School would say that Bert was the brightest pupil she ever taught. When Jeanie gave in to George’s urgings in July 1904 and moved the family to Sydney’s Milsons Point, near her own parents in Kirribilli, it was mainly with Bert’s opportunities in mind.

The majority of workers in North Sydney were then in maritime or manufacturing industries – utilities, tanneries, glue factories. For Bert, Jeanie had vastly higher hopes. She was a martinet, rejoicing in his pageant of success at Fort Street Model School at Observatory Hill, with the proviso that better was always possible. Bert would tell the story of returning home to Bella Vista in Grantham Street with a report card containing nine first-class honours. ‘What’s the matter with you?’ Jeanie retorted. ‘You sat for ten subjects.’ Yet he did not find this oppressive, nor the religiosity that had her playing the organ at St John’s Anglican Church on Broughton Street and cleaving to its minister, Reverend William Newby-Fraser. On the contrary, Evatt seems to have corroborated Freud’s belief that ‘the man who has been the indisputable favorite of his mother keeps for life the feeling of a conqueror, that confidence of success that often induces real success’. Brother Bert, Clive would say, ‘was taught that he could do better than anyone else’.

Evatt certainly upheld the Fort Street motto about every man being the maker of his own fortune. He served as head prefect in 1911, was awarded the Bridges Prize for ‘the boy who brought the greatest honour to Fort Street School’, and won a bursary to Sydney University as well as a scholarship to the Presbyterian St Andrew’s College. Evatt then lived up to the university’s motto about the stars changing but mind remaining the same. He carried on as before, graduating with first-class honours in English, philosophy and mathematics; winning more than a score of university awards, medals, scholarships and essay prizes in English; editing the university’s already venerable Hermes; becoming the first undergraduate elected president of the Sydney University Union; even reviving university rugby league in the face of opposition from a disapproving Sports Union: ‘A parallel feat,’ Smith’s Weekly observed, ‘would be to introduce jazz into the ritual of St Andrew’s or St Mary’s Cathedral.’

Politically, Evatt was still finding his way, partly for personal reasons. His questing mind was attracted to Labor’s radical tendencies, despite his family’s circumstances and his mother’s conservatism. His thinking was fluid and susceptible to influence, particularly from two thinkers at Sydney University: Vere Gordon Childe, a gnomic Marxist theoretician, and Francis Anderson, a philosopher steeped in English liberalism. Childe, whom Evatt called his ‘political father’, was the more trenchant thinker, sceptical that a working-class party could reconcile with the institution of parliament. In ‘Liberalism in Australia’, which won the prestigious Beauchamp Prize for ‘the best essay on a literary or historic subject’ in 1915, Evatt positioned himself more clearly alongside Anderson, justifying state intervention ‘on the principles of equality of opportunity and social freedom’ but decrying socialism as stressing ‘material and economic interests at the expense of intellectual, moral and religious principles’. Childe and Anderson appealed to competing sides of Evatt’s personality, theoretical and practical, with the latter tending to prevail over time because it contained personal possibilities: Anderson argued strongly that professional men should become involved in politics, because democracy required the balancing of the state by ‘a great and free community outside government control’.

Evatt respected Australia’s Labor prime minister, Billy Hughes, but above all revered New South Wales’ Labor premier, William Holman. The urbane champion of ‘modern socialism’, Holman was from a theatrical family, drawn to politics by theory, to the Bar by intellect. He was cultured, charismatic, handsome, bold. He had run the gauntlet of martial patriotism by hoping that England would suffer defeat in the Boer War, the ‘most iniquitous, most immoral war ever waged with any race’; he had incurred the wrath of capital by founding state enterprises, such as mines, brickworks, timberyards, dockyards, quarries and factories, to compete with private monopolies; he rose above sectarianism and kept trades unions at arms length; he was even possibly the first Australian politician to fly, using a Vickers Vimy on the campaign trail.


[image: Image]
‘An endless capacity for hard work’: William Holman.



Evatt idolised Holman. They seem to have met at Sydney University, the premier employing him for a term as a ‘research officer’. Writing about him a quarter of a century later, Evatt was still in thrall to his hero’s qualities: ‘great courage, a first-class brain, an endless capacity for hard work, a fine physical appearance, a magnificent speaking voice.’ Yet with the coming of war, Holman was doomed to bear out Childe’s misgivings about progressive politicians in reactionary institutions. Seduced from the socialist path by the trappings of power, he would drift from the party’s rank and file into the embrace of imperialism, specifically around the question of conscription. And that, for Evatt, would have an acute personal significance.



On completing undergraduate studies, Evatt veered into law – then, at Sydney University, a tiny elite of about eighty students. The school’s Phillip Street premises were right in the city’s legal district, and at a nexus of power with neighbouring Macquarie Street: the professor of law, Sir John Peden, was a member of the Legislative Council; alumni included Australia’s first prime minister, Sir Edmund Barton, his High Court colleagues Sir Samuel Griffith and Sir George Rich, and the state’s chief justice, Sir William Cullen, who doubled as university chancellor. Evatt excelled here too, causing Cullen to take him on as associate in February 1916.

Yet Evatt’s life would be marked every bit as deeply by what he could not do. Rejected thrice because of his astigmatism, he could not enlist in World War I; nor could his older brother Jack, a bookkeeper at the Sydney Morning Herald, who was deaf. Jack and George would both marry sisters, respectively Grace and Stella Ward; their place, it was generally agreed, was at home. But the family also had strong ethos of service – indeed, Evatt was an early recruit to the Universal Service League, championed by Holman. Evatt often referred to his martial inheritances. His father’s forebears had served for four generations in the Indian Army, while his British uncle Sir George was a military surgeon-general.

For their inclinations, the Evatts would pay a high price. Sir George’s son Raleigh, a captain in the Middlesex Regiment, became the clan’s first wartime casualty: he succumbed to a sniper in France in November 1914. Evatt’s brother Ray, a chemist at CSR, joined up in March 1915, days after his nineteenth birthday; cousin Vic Gray enlisted three months later despite being only sixteen. Brother Frank, a Sydney University medical student, enlisted in September 1916; Paddy Nolan, a Sydney University law student friend of Evatt’s, enlisted in January 1917. None would return.
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‘Uncle George’: Sir George Evatt.



It made sense that Ray was first of the brothers to join. Athletic and rugged, he was the family’s man of action. The symmetry of the Evatt family’s last photograph together at Bella Vista in May 1915 evokes their orderly intimacy and precedence: Jack (twenty-seven) and George (thirty-two) are seated like bookends; Bert (twenty-one) and Frank (seventeen) stand, suited, in from the ends; flanked by Clive (fifteen) in his cadet uniform and Ray (nineteen) in his gunner’s khaki, Jeanie is at the centre, unsmiling, severe. She was a perfervid nationalist who urgently wished Ray to distinguish himself. ‘I do hope you will be able to wipe out the Germans and their kind,’ she urged him in a letter. Ray duly embraced military life, and was desperately disappointed at Gallipoli to be sent to convalesce from dysentery after three weeks. ‘Three of our Majors were killed with the one shell,’ he reported home. ‘Another officer who won the DSO had a leg shattered and yet another poor goat was in my sector of the trench for a day or two had his nut blown off’. But this thick of it was where he longed to be: ‘I’m keen to hear the old bullets cracking again as long as they continue to miss me.’

Wounded by a sniper at Flers, Ray waved concerns away: ‘For heaven’s sake don’t write calling me darling or being worried, it’s all rot.’ He wrote his brothers constantly, too, never losing an ebullient tone. He was excited by Bert’s continued academic successes: ‘I envy a slice of the grey matter in your nut which is lacking from mine.’ He was excited by Frank’s enlistment after passing his medical exams: ‘When you get away, keep smiling and look on the humorous side of everything. There’s a ton of fun in this game if only you see it.’

Frank was cut from different cloth – diffident, sensitive, a lover of literature and music. He idolised Ray temperamentally but was intellectually closer to Bert, whose gift of a watch he wore when his unit embarked for Europe in December 1916. He whiled away time aboard the Orontes reading Booth Tarkington, O. Henry and David Graham Phillips, struck up an improbable friendship with an artilleryman who heard him whistling tunes from La Bohème, and enjoyed London for Aida, the D’Oyly Carte Opera Company and the music hall minstrel George Robey. Reuniting with Ray, who had just been awarded the Military Cross for ‘conspicuous gallantry’ in leading a successful trench assault at Warlencourt, reinforced his sense of mission. When the pair palled around on leave with their uncle Sir George and aunt Sophie, Ray joked that he’d return from his next ‘stunt’ with a German machine gun under each arm.

In August 1917, Frank in 5th Division and Ray in 2nd marched separately for the new push at Ypres that became the carnage of Passchendaele. During the Battle of Menin Road, Ray was cut down by a machine gun at Westhoek Ridge, and buried in a shellhole grave that quickly disappeared beneath the tramp of armies. During the Battle of Polygon Wood six days later, Frank was in a crater with two fellow university students when a shell detonated on top of them, killing one, badly wounding another and leaving Frank with what he called ‘a scratch’ from which he nonetheless took months to recover in Prince Christian Hospital, Weymouth. Infinitely worse was the loss of his brother. At first Frank was incredulous: ‘He [Ray] was a real soldier and the bravest of the brave.’ Later, to his mother, he tried to find solace:


Overwhelming though the news is, one can feel pride in the fact that he died the bravest and best of deaths that ever man could – and that he himself would have been content with such a fate. Seek comfort in that fact, dear old Mater, and please try not to worry, think of poor Aunt Sophie and Uncle George whose only son [Raleigh] – their idol – made the same glorious sacrifice. It seems hard that two such splendid men should be cut off in their prime – but God has willed it so. Dearest Mother, try to keep well and strong and cheerful.



Given the news by her spiritual guide, Newby-Fraser, Jeanie did try to ‘take it bravely’. But some of her ardour cooled: she heeded Frank’s urging against Clive enlisting ‘no matter how keen he is, not even if he is 18’, delaying her youngest boy’s service by steering him to the Royal Military College in Duntroon for training as an officer. Bert, meanwhile, took more vigorous action, gaining the university senate’s approval to seek Frank’s return to studies. Frank was interested: ‘I am very keen to get back to my course, especially now that Ray has gone. Of course there will probably be weeks of weary red tape business before we know anything definite.’ But Frank was also oppressed by Ray’s example and Jeanie’s expectations. To Bert he decried himself as a ‘dud’ compared to the ‘glorious life’ of his warrior brother. When it became clear that Bert’s intervention had failed, he promised his mother he would ‘try to lead a life like Ray’s if it were possible, and to strive to gain the glorious success which was his’.

After a few quiet months, the front was shattered by the German counteroffensive. Frank grew inured to shelling, was gassed twice, learned to live on scant sleep. Now, perhaps, he felt his academic comparison more directly with Bert. Learning from Jeanie that Bert’s ‘Liberalism in Australia’ was to be published as a book, he sighed: ‘He has certainly had some academic career and will go high in the world of law I trust… He certainly deserves all that comes his way in the nature of a successful career and no one is more pleased than me that such will be his.’ He also indulged a tiny fantasy of returning to study himself: ‘It would be a great thing to visit Oxford and Cambridge, were it merely to get some idea of the “atmosphere” of college life at one of those places. However, one must just wait and hope for the best.’ It was his last letter home: hit by a gas shell during an attack on 29 September 1918, he died of wounds at a clearing station, Tincourt, near which he was buried. Newby-Fraser received another telegram concluding: ‘Please inform mother’. This time, according to Evatt’s first biographer, Kylie Tennant, Jeanie fainted at the news.



Ray and Frank: the names endured. George and Stella’s fourth daughter, Olive Ray, was usually known as Ray; Jack and Grace called their first son Frank. At their mutual alma mater, Fort Street, where he had become head of the old boys’ association, Bert endowed the Raymond and Frank Evatt Memorial Prize, to be awarded for an essay on ‘an approved Australian topic’ which he judged personally. But it was tacitly acknowledged among the Evatts that their mother never recovered from the losses of the boys whose enlistment permissions she had signed because they were not twenty-one, effectively warranting their deaths. In Bert’s later generally admiring biography of Holman, he would fault his hero’s bullishness about conscription: it evinced a failure to grasp ‘the tremendous strain and anxiety in every family from which a member was absent at the front’, a strain ‘almost too heavy to be borne’. Jeanie only just bore it. On her own once Clive went to Duntroon, she gave Bella Vista up and went to live first with her parents, then with Jack. Bert thought her ‘terribly battered’, resembling Hamlet in thinking ‘too precisely o’er the event’.

Bert was not immune from the same sensations. He had vacillated on the issue of conscription. Anderson had been cautiously in favour, Childe controversially against; Evatt had written in favour of the ‘yes’ vote in Hermes then had second thoughts; he sympathised when Henry Boote, editor of the Australian Worker, was prosecuted for his stirring editorials against the referenda seeking public support for conscription. The desertions of Labor by Hughes and Holman after the failure of those referenda challenged his political sensibilities; his inability to join up caused him the personal pang of having somehow let his brothers down. It might have been worse, had he not found a new confidante.

Born in Ottumwa in Iowa, nineteen-year-old architecture student Mary Alice Sheffer had grown up in Sydney, to which her father Sam, the American manufacturing chemist who established the Rexona brand, had relocated the family for business reasons when she was one. Sam was prosperous, practical, conservative; Mary Alice was sunny, artistic, and liberal. At Redlands, the school principal, Miss G. A. Roseby, had encouraged girls to take an interest in politics. During the transport strike that convulsed New South Wales in 1917, she even urged them to listen to the tramshed orators and ‘make up their own minds’. Evatt, as we shall see, developed profound sympathies with the strikers, although this was not why he first asked Mary Alice out: rather was it to a lecture about Robert Louis Stevenson. She was charmed when he gave her leaves from Stevenson’s grave on Samoa’s Mount Vaea, obtained on a pilgrimage by solicitor friend Bob Sproule.

At the time, Evatt was boarding with a cousin, Edwin Pike, in Mosman near the Sheffers’ luxurious family home, Wapello. The modesty of his associate’s income did not prevent him plying Mary Alice with gifts: prints, engravings, a recording of Beethoven’s Fifth, an edition of Art in Australia, and, of course, a copy of Liberalism in Australia, now published as a short book. Mary Alice had a passion for art and literature, with a particular affinity for William Morris, progenitor of the Arts and Crafts movement. It helped, too, that she had also lost a cousin in the war, and was solicitous of Evatt’s grief. One letter from Evatt recounts meeting his brother’s unit commander, Captain F. S. Hall MC, who described Ray’s imploring to be involved in the attack in which he lost his life: ‘He was killed by machine gun fire after leading his platoon to the objective and the planting of the Australian flag. It is heartbreaking… I think that I know just how you all must feel about your dead cousin.’

Mary Alice reciprocated tenderly:


I thank you for telling me of Ray. I know how glad you must be to see someone who was with him and yet… it must make you feel – I cannot write what I mean but indeed I am most sorry and yet we must be proud of these boys who have done the finest thing in the world. I was going to say it seems as if this war – and all it brings – is so unnecessary yet we cannot think that can we?



For some, war’s end doubled the sense of loss. The High Court judge Henry Bournes Higgins, who lost his son Mervyn in December 1916, summed this conflict up: ‘They would come back – thousands of boys to their mothers – but never our boy.’ He turned his wondering to verse: ‘What has he lost? Mayhap, some fifty years,/The joy of children – work, success, defeat;/The sense of failing strength, corroding fears,/The sense that age makes not the life complete.’ In the edition of Hermes published around Armistice Day, Evatt also turned to poetry. His ‘November 12, 1918’ concluded:


… But oh! Dear God, I yearn

For those dear boys who never shall return,

Our sweet young boys who bravely went along

To meet with storm and pain and death, and yet

Faced all those terrors with a snatch of song,

Oh! How I yearn for them and can’t forget!



Mary Alice was again powerfully moved:


I think I can understand how much dearer Australia is to you because of Frank and Ray, and I know that with all the homecomings you must feel their loss more and more. I cannot fashion words to tell you how much your poem in Hermes appealed to me. The best that we can give to our country can never equal what they have given, but give that we must, remembering.

Sincerely yours,

Mary Alice



Soon the signings off were more personal, the confidences more urgent. For Christmas 1918, Mary Alice gave Bert a bound volume of her poetry, Imaginings, stanzas brimming with feeling: ‘I lie dreaming here of you/Awake, asleep 'tis all I do/To live to dream, to love, to live,/I all my dreams to you will give.’ Mary Alice was intimidated by Bert’s formidable mother – the lace sleeves, the lavender water, the lips on which a hymn was ever perched. She would say that she felt like saluting Jeanie every time they met. Mary Alice also intuited that this was a family of innate protectiveness. Cleanliness, nutrition and good health had always been paramount in the Evatt circle; it would now be reinforced by an anxiety about the preciousness of male heirs. A letter from Bert to Mary Alice from early 1919, for example, recounts in great detail a visit to Jack, Grace, and their infant son.


I left Manly at noon and arrived at Wollstonecraft for lunch where Frank (my only nephew) was moaning terribly. His mother was not anxious but in the afternoon I carried him down the road and my sister-in-law Stella insisted on the doctor being sent for: the latter… said there was no need to be anxious, then he finished his tennis and came to the home at 5 pm. He diagnosed pneumonia at once and mother and baby were packed off to the hospital quite close. He then said that it was a case of extreme urgency. You can imagine how upset everyone was there (my mother was there too), how terribly anxious for the little helpless kiddie who seemed in great pain and could say nothing; it nearly broke one’s heart. But fortunately he improved and the dr was wrong, severe fastitus being the final verdict and not pneumonia which would probably have be fatal; we were all very upset and it was very nerve wracking… Frank is the only boy in the family and it seemed too cruel.



It is a very full account: the concern, especially for one whose namesake was dead but six months, is palpable. For a fit and active young man, in fact, Evatt would grow almost morbidly absorbed by health and infection, internalising his mother’s concerns. After they married on 27 November 1920, Mary Alice assumed the mantle of carer, taking on some of Jeanie’s customs. Believing in the efficacy of fresh air, the couple slept on the verandah of their matrimonial flat above Mosman’s Little Sirius Cove; concerned for draughts, Mary Alice would line her husband’s suits with additional flannel.

Such fastidiousness made more sense a century ago, when sanitation was rudimentary, antibiotics undreamed of and the ravages of influenza recent. But this was also personal: part of a family of eight sons reduced to four by the time he was twenty-four, Bert would always be attuned to risk, to mortality, and to the exigencies of the unforgiving minute. In March 1922, Jeanie placed at St John’s a plaque commemorating Ray and Frank. Six months later, after a long diminuendo, she died. Never again would Bert be able to return home, trailing glory. But in some ways, he never lost the habit.



In her last few years at least, Jeanie had reason for pride in Bert’s headlong progress. Sydney’s legal profession was small and tight-knit: there were only 170 barristers in the whole state, together with 1000 solicitors. Through them, Evatt cut a swathe. He signed the Bar roll on the nomination of Alec Shand, one of only a score of silks in the city, a month after Frank’s death. Indeed, the Sun thought the family’s travails almost as significant as the new arrival’s academic garlands: ‘Mr Evatt, who has volunteered for the front several times, has lost two brothers in the war.’

Evatt commenced to read at Wentworth Court, where Elizabeth and Phillip streets met, in the chambers of Andy Watt, a dapper and polished advocate who had been at the Bar since the year of Evatt’s birth. He quickly picked up briefs in the Central Summons Court, the District Court and the Supreme Court. Practices at the Bar, once all about eloquence, were formalising. Expertise in rules of practice and forms of pleading was becoming necessary, if not essential. Junior barristers, who commonly drafted preliminary pleadings, were coming into their own. Few were as obviously impressive as Evatt. At twenty-five he made his first appearance in the High Court. It provided a bracing introduction to the hurly-burly of law and politics.
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An Evatt client: T. J. Ryan.



Scars left by the conscription campaigns of Hughes and Holman had not healed. Australia’s foremost anti-conscriptionist, Queensland premier Thomas Ryan, had unfinished business. When publication of his most fervent speeches had been thwarted by the Commonwealth Censor in November 1917, Ryan had had the brainstorm of reading them into Hansard, the deleted sections printed provocatively in bold type. Prime Minister Hughes, alleging criminal conspiracy, had sent military personnel to the Government Printing Office in Brisbane to seize the Hansard; Ryan had retaliated with legal action alleging that the seizure was unconstitutional. A torrid draw had been played out, but one matter remained: Ryan’s defamation action against proprietors of the Argus for an editorial alleging that his government had ‘descended so low as to have entered into a paltry and contemptible conspiracy with Germans and other disloyalists against the authority of the Commonwealth Defence department’.

The result was a rare High Court jury trial commencing in August 1919 in which Evatt was junior to Ryan’s former political rival turned ally Hugh Macrossan, the case being heard in Sydney as a neutral venue. In fact, the Commonwealth quite unscrupulously made it otherwise, conspiring with the Argus in a sectarian skewing of the jury: Catholic Ryan had met Irish premier Éamon de Valera in Dublin four months earlier, and Argus counsel Adrian Knox KC had no difficulty painting him as a Sinn Fein sympathiser. The proceedings were messy, vicious and protracted, lasting almost until Christmas, a first jury deadlocking, a second jury finding in Ryan’s favour but awarding a farthing’s damages. Had Evatt ever imagined the law a genteel calling, T. J. Ryan v The Argus would surely have disabused him.

Conscription came into a second well-reported case of Evatt’s involving Percy Brookfield MLA, a feisty socialist who had gone to jail for calling Hughes a ‘traitor, viper and skunk’ but not curbed his tongue since. In August 1920, Brookfield paused in some soapbox oratory in the Domain to warn his audience that there were ‘the usual tribe of police pimps taking notes’. In the notes of Constable Alexander McMurray, which formed the basis of an insulting words charge, Brookfield was reported to have continued: ‘In these days it is risky for you to speak when there are special pimps and crawlers prepared to sell their manhood in order to get working-class speakers in gaol… A man of the working class to so degrade his manhood that he will come to a public meeting to get something so as he will lay one of his fellows behind prison bars is the most degrading work ever I knew.’ In Brookfield’s defence, Evatt urged that the words, though ‘harsh and severe’, were a general rather than a specific criticism: the speaker had had in mind methods rather than a man. Brookfield, however, was fined a fiver after admitting in court that he had had a brush with McMurray during anti-conscription protests in the Domain three years earlier, when the policeman had charged him with ‘making statements prejudicial to recruiting’.

The other storied case in which Evatt was a junior went to the heart of the politics of the High Court, and of Australia itself. Amalgamated Society of Engineers v Adelaide Steamship Company & Ors (1920) became known as ‘the Engineers’ Case’ – even, among lawyers, simply ‘Engineers’. The case concerned the respective powers of the Commonwealth and the states. Protective of states’ rights, the constitution’s authors had restricted Commonwealth powers, vesting all unnamed ‘residual’ powers in the states including arbitration – except in the case of industrial disputes spilling over state boundaries. Because an award from the Commonwealth Arbitration Court was superior, this had had the perverse outcome of enlarging industrial action by pushing it across state boundaries. But the High Court, under the influence of Sir Samuel Griffith and Sir Edmund Barton, had gone on supporting a doctrine known as the ‘implied immunity of instrumentalities’, interpreting the constitution as meaning that neither Commonwealth nor states could legislate or interfere with each other’s instruments or organs of government.

It is worth reflecting on Evatt’s proximity hereabouts to Federation itself, of its authors at least. In their earliest days on the High Court, Griffith and Barton had basically been interpreting their own work, circumspectly respecting powers the states had guarded so jealously in their consent to the constitution. Griffith had written all the early judgments, with short concurrences from Barton and their colleague Richard O’Connor. A shift had begun with the arrival of H. B. Higgins and Isaac Isaacs – both peppery and dogmatic, neither enamoured of the constitution’s final form. The shift had only just run its course. In October 1919, Griffith had stood down as chief justice in favour of none other than the Argus’s counsel in Ryan, Adrian Knox; in January 1920, Barton had died. Higgins and Isaacs were now the court’s dominating presences, ill-matched, but more expansive in their view of federal powers. In Engineers the plaintiff union sought a federal award covering employees in two enterprises in Western Australia, a sawmill and a machine shop. The steamship company was joined by each of the states, at a Bar table bulging with legal talent that included two future High Court chief justices in Owen Dixon and John Latham. The generational aspect of the story is further enriched by it being the first encounter of two future nemeses: junior to George Flannery KC, counsel for New South Wales, was Evatt; improbably representing the union was Robert Menzies. Menzies, eight months Evatt’s junior and his dashing young counterpart at the Melbourne Bar, famously came off the better, the union obtaining a far-reaching joint judgment – even if legal scholars have tactfully noted that Menzies would rather embroider his role in the hearings.

Where the young Evatt had greatest exposure to the interpenetration of law, politics, capital and labour was in the continuing fallout from the 1917 transport strike. This, the most serious of the war, had pitted Holman’s new Nationalist government against as many as 100,000 workers, and eventually absorbed almost four million days’ work, even if Holman had been overseas for its duration, leaving matters in the charge of his imperious deputy George Fuller. The casus belli had been the introduction to Eveleigh Railyards and Randwick Tramsheds of a Taylorist time-and-motion card system: a bizarre idea, foisting templates designed for American assembly lines on the artisanal customs of Australian workshops, but a convenient pretext for prolonging class vendettas stirred by the conscription referenda. After it ended, Fuller shamelessly abrogated the terms of settlement by nurturing compliant dummy unions, rewarding ‘loyalists’ with promotions and victimising ‘rebels’ through blacklistings – having spent fifteen years working his way up to engine driver in Bathurst, minimally militant Ben Chifley was busted to shovelling coal. Star chambers heard trumped up allegations of sedition levelled by anonymous informants, leading to dialogues that would have done credit to Kafka:


Tramways official: You want to know the reason why you have not been re-employed?

Sacked driver: Yes sir.

Tramways official: What part did you take in the strike?

Sacked driver: None whatever.

Tramways official: Are you sure?

Sacked driver: Yes.

Tramways official: Just think.

Sacked driver: I am certain.

Tramways official: You did not take any part at all?

Sacked driver: No

Tramways official: It has been reported to me that you took an active part in the strike. Singing revolutionary songs?

Sacked driver: Me?

Tramways official: Yes.

Sacked driver: I was not.

Tramways official: That is the information I have got.

Sacked driver: May I know who laid these charges?

Tramways official: No charge is laid against you. I am simply telling you the reason you are not employed. You are out of the service…

Sacked driver: Will you not let me have the names of those who laid the information against me?

Tramways official: No. It is here for you to disprove.



To stave off criticism, Fuller appointed a royal commission where a tame judge concluded to nobody’s surprise that the card system had ‘not caused discontent’. This was redressed when Labor defeated the apostate Holman at the polls in March 1920, and new premier John Storey initiated a second royal commission focused on the maltreatment of unionists, 2000 of whom had applied unsuccessfully for re-employment – one of them was a young Chifley.

Counsel for the government were the chambermates Watt and Evatt, who addressed the commission for a total of fifty-two hours. Evatt assiduously pursued the denials of natural justice to the blacklisted workers, making great play of the denigrations confidentially heaped on them in railway files: ‘poor specimen of a worker’, ‘very shaky in the upper storey’, ‘professional loafer’, ‘Russian agitator’ and even ‘champion beerchewer’. By the end, Industrial Court judge Walter Edmunds had little choice but to agree that the railway commissioners’ ‘most objectionable’ reprisals had ‘exceeded their rights under the terms of settlement’, and that their sponsorship of phony unions had involved ‘a deliberate attempt to suppress the truth’ – conclusions Evatt welcomed as a ‘damning indictment’ in the pages of Smith’s Weekly: ‘Never before in the history of this country has there been such scientific punishment inflicted on workmen or such repeated breaches of promises entered into by both Commissioner and Government on the settlement of the strike.’

Any sense of vindication was short-lived: the findings were set at naught by Storey’s death and Labor’s defeat at the polls in March 1922. But Evatt’s role tightened existing ties with Smith’s Weekly, the entrepreneur James Joynton Smith’s popular broadsheet broadside. Smith’s and Smith’s sympathies were worn openly: solidarity with workers, scepticism of capital, leeriness of the English, loathing of foreigners and radicals. It was the paper, insisted editor Claude McKay, that ‘anyone could come to if they wanted a fair go’ – providing they weren’t ‘dagos’ and ‘bolshies’ at any rate. It was also often in trouble. McKay estimated spending £15,000 a year defending defamation actions: there was a joke that a statue to Smith’s should be erected at the Supreme Court entrance.

Chief beneficiaries were Smith’s ‘three musketeers’ at the Bar: Evatt, Watt and Claude Weston. Evatt developed the same affinity for libellers as he had the libelled. Smith’s most fabled defamation dogfight spanned almost five years, after Sydney’s biggest landlord, Emmanuel Myerson, was antagonised by articles, editorials and cartoons decrying him as ‘a modern Shylock’ and ‘Monarch of the Slums’. Myerson, McKay would recall ruefully, was ‘a hard litigant’ who ‘kept on coming, action after action’. Then, at a crucial moment, the newspaper’s solicitor lost all the affidavits carefully sworn by the landlord’s benighted tenants, apparently leaving them in a cab. While Watt stalled in court, Evatt calmly reinterviewed everyone. ‘Bert’s job went on well into the night, his store of patience inexhaustible as his cheerfulness,’ recalled McKay. ‘His store of friendliness as well… [He] had to know how to handle these people who were shy and scared, and Bert had them all at their ease and I would say that he extracted more facts than we had in first instances. I had the greatest admiration for him in his getting out of the mess.’ He impressed most everyone, did Bert Evatt. Including Abe Landa.
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COUNCIL OF THE MUNTGIpir g
4T THE ORDINARY IEETTNG Hgnogw"‘{'zm;w'
17TH AUGUST, 1937, DAL

PRESENT:-

Alderman R. Fieldhouse (Mayor)
Aldermen Hogan (Deputy Mayor) , Berkley, Caffyn Dovey
Fenton, Hunter, Lucas, Lynch, Nott, = ’
Samuel and Thomas.

4t the commencemént of business at 8,11 p,m. those present were:-

maermen Fieldhouse (Mayor) Hogan (Deputy Mayor), Berkley, Caffyn
Fenton, Hunter, Lucas, Lynch, Nott and Samuel. b I,

37/653 MINUTES.

RESOLVED that the minutes of the proceedings of the Council of the
Municipality of Waverley, at the ordinary meeting held on the 3rd
August, 1937, be taken as read, confirmed as a correct record, and
signed by the Mayor,

37/554 OBITUARY - LATE GRIFFITH ELLIS WILLIAMS, (1181-1)

The Mayor referred to the recent death of Griffith Ellis Williams,
who was an hAlderman of the Gouncil Tor a number of years, and a
prominent citizen of the Municipality, and it was -

IIOVED and SECONDED -

THAT a letter of sympathy, under the Seal of the Council
be forwarded to lirs, Willliams and her family, expressing
the Council's sympathy with them in the bereavement they
have recently 3ustained,

The motion was carried in silence, the Aldermen and members of the
public standing meanwhile,

37/555 OBITUARY - LATE MAX CHESTER. (1181-1)

The Mayor referred to the tragic death of Max Chester, a boy of
seven (7) years of age, by being drowned in the waters in a trench
at the corner of Hollywood Avenue and Allens Parade, on the l4th
Auguct, 1937, and it was -

WOVED and SECONDED -

THAT a letter of sympathy, under the Seal of the Council
be forwarded to the parents of the late Max Chester, ex-
pressing the Council's sympathy with them in their recent

sad bereavement,

‘E':.g Wotion was carried in silence, the Aldermen and members of the
dublic standing meanwhile,

“onf irmeq at the meeting of the Council held on _7ﬂE} 1937
/ MAYOR:
;@b / MAYOR:
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§Scene Of Drownings

Waverley residents are incensed at the omission of the authorities to
safeguard the lives of children by placing a fence around this ex-
cavation, which at the week-end, contained water up to a depth of
eight feet. Max Chester, 7. was found drowned in the excavation
on Saturday at 7 p.m. Hundreds viewed the scene yesterday. The
excavation is in the middle of the thoroughfare at the corner of
Hollywood Avenue and Allen’(sS Pargde.) Children play ‘at the spot.
ee story.
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AUTHORITY TO PAY Mongy

IN THE SUPREME CoURT oF }

New Soutt Wares.

OUT OF COURT.

No. 3897 of 1937,

- JANET_CHESTER Pl

§

THE COUNCIL OF THE
- TR VAVERIEY [

Please pap t0. ABuau 1awA & 00, Soliciors.
or their order, all moneys that are in Court and payable to me in the above

action.

..., Zeo_-aécgm{: ]

Please pay the moneys abovementioned to our Clerk, My. GEOFFRY BONAMY

whose signature is in the margin hereof.
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